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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS 
DECISION 

Elle Loe asks this Court to grant review of the Court of 

Appeals' unpublished decision in State v. Loe, No. 84745-7-I, 

(January 13, 2025) (Appendix). 

B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

The trial court admitted the deceased complaining 

witness's statements from a recorded home conversation with 

his children concerning transactions which formed the basis of 

Loe' s criminal charges, as evidence of his state of mind, mental 

condition, or intent. The recording contains no acknowledgment 

of consent and no announcement that it is being recorded. Is 

review appropriate where the Court of Appeals opinion that 

despite Loe's objection to its admission, the recording did not 

violate the privacy act, conflicts with prior precedent from this 

Court and the Court of Appeals, and involves a question of 

substantial public interest? 
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C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Trial evidence. 

97-year-old Morris Gorelick watched Loe grow up while 

her mother, Bonnie Anderson, cared for his wife and later him, 

over nearly 20 years. 1RP 1 1210-11; 2RP 29-30, 32, 622, 645, 

671, 782-83, 890, 893, 964. Gorelick and his daughter, Paula2 

Gorelick, attended Loe's marriage to Trevor Loe in 2015. 2RP 

966, 1193, 1243. 

After Loe lost her restaurant marketing job in 2016, she 

sought to expand her own pre-existing business and continued 

to work in marketing. lRP 1234-35; 2RP 744-49, 756-57, 

941, 945-46, 1035. In this capacity, she assisted several clients 

with updating their business branding, producing marketing 

materials, and assisting with campaigns on social media. 2RP 

1 The index to the record citation is in the Brief of Appellant 
(BOA) at 4, n.1. 

2 This petition refers to Morris Gorelick and Elle Loe by their 
last names, and Kenneth Gorelick, Paula Gorelick, and Trevor 
Loe by their first names. 
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748, 775, 810, 948-49, 1036; 3RP 534. After two years, Loe 

sought to expand her business to include co-marketing deals 

with reality tv personalities to sell several products, including 

eyewear and sleepwear. 2RP 775, 827, 950, 954-55, 1042; 

3RP 534-35. Seeking investment capital, Loe approached 

Gorelick for funds to expand her business in 2018. 2RP 1051, 

1195, 1229, 1244. Gorelick had owned, operated, and invested 

in several businesses over the course of his life. 2RP 180-82, 

206-07, 332, 337, 342-44, 493. Paula had been present when 

Loe initially proposed the investment to Gorelick and advised 

him not to contribute more than $25,000. 2RP 1051, 1195-97, 

1235, 1244. 

In May 2018, Loe and her then-husband, Trevor, drafted 

a contract to clarify that, in exchange for his $100,000 

investment, Gorelick would be entitled to 15 percent of all sales 

until he had been repaid 125 percent of his investment amount. 

After that, he would receive 2.5 percent of sales for three years. 

lRP 1203-07; 2RP 412, 416, 473, 479. The contract further 
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established that, if Gorelick did not receive the 125 percent 

return on his investment within three years, he would receive 20 

percent equity ownership in the business. 2RP 412, 416, 473, 

479. 

Trevor helped prepare the contract and is identified in the 

document as the chief financial officer (CFO) of the company, 

but was not present when Loe and Gorelick signed it. lRP 

1202-05; 2RP 400, 463-64, 973-75, 976-79, 1052-54, 1067-

69, 1083. Gorelick had granted powers of attorney to Paula, 

and she had been helping him with various financial tasks for 

some time, but she did not review the initial contract between 

Loe and her father, and did not mention the investment to her 

siblings. 2RP 147-48, 1199-1200, 1208, 1247, 1265. Gorelick 

wrote Loe a check for $100,000, dated May 16, 2018. lRP 

1201-02; 2RP 1198; 3RP 167, 171, 173-76. Loe did take steps 

to launch the new venture; she met with suppliers and 

contracted with various web designers, photographers, stylists, 

and models. These efforts resulted in a few social media pages, 
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web pages, and a bus wrap advertising one of the products. 2RP 

778-79, 852, 857-58, 862-65, 867, 900-02, 906; 3RP 52-53, 56-

57, 80-81, 142-43. However, sales ended in August 2018. 3RP 

63, 79-81, 107-09, 111, 144. 

Shortly thereafter, Loe offered Gorelick a promissory 

note in exchange for a loan to her and Trevor in the amount of 

$210,000. Gorelick explained that he would not be making any 

loans to Loe, because he was only interested in making 

investments. 2RP 982-85, 986-88, 1073-77. In September 2018, 

Loe and Gorelick executed a second contract which deemed 

Gorelick a silent partner to Loe in exchange for his $450,000 

investment and entitled him to 20 percent of the annual profit. It 

further noted that Gorelick would receive a 4 7 percent equity 

ownership if his investment was not repaid within four years. 

lRP 1211-15; 2RP 420, 461, 1201-03, 1205, 1217, 1247-48, 

1386. This contract also listed Trevor as the CFO, but he did not 

sign the agreement. lRP 1215-16; 2RP 993-94, 997, 1067-68. 
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Trevor filed for divorce from Loe shortly before the second 

contract was executed. 2RP 991, 1008, 1017. 

Loe' s company continued to pay the upfront costs 

associated with multiple photo shoots in 2018 and 2019, 

including travel and lodging expenses, the hiring of contractors 

and staff, wardrobe, and food. 2RP 778-82, 793, 821, 834-36, 

839, 842, 853, 880-85, 900-03. Travel expenses associated with 

these projects could run into the five figures. 3RP 545-47. During 

2019, Loe was featured on a reality television show which 

included the sunglasses as part of its marketing. 2RP 791-92, 

855. 

Loe's company also partnered with celebrities focusing 

on eyeglasses embellished with crystals, kimonos, and pajama 

wear. 2RP 776, 832-33; 3RP 50, 63-69, 72-75, 89, 84, 106, 

144-45, 550-57, 658, 702, 733-35, 739. Ultimately, these 

projects did not prove very successful, but the contractors were 

paid in full for their work. 2RP 813-14; 3RP 63-64, 68, 83-85, 

89-91, 112-14, 128-29, 134, 537, 541, 548,658. 
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The following month, Gorelick opened a joint credit card 

with Loe. 2RP 1251-52, 1265; 3RP 408-09, 417; 3RP 202-04. 

Although a representative with the credit card company 

contacted Bellevue Police Department (BPD) to express 

concerns, Paula expressed no concerns to police in November 

2018. 2RP 1251-52, 1265; 3RP 408-09, 417. 

Paula had discussed earlier concerns about the contracts 

with her brother, Brian Gorelick, but ultimately authorized the 

checks through Gorelick's bank. 2RP 1203-04, 1240, 1248. In 

December 2018, Gorelick's friend and investment advisor, 

James Parsons, prepared a financial power of attorney (POA) 

document that immediately established Paula as her father's 

attorney in fact. In the event that Paula resigned from that role, 

authority would fall to Brian and then to Gorelick's other son, 

Kenneth Gorelick. Parsons, a business attorney who had known 

Gorelick for many years, had no concerns about Gorelick's 

capacity to execute the POA. 2RP 357-62, 363, 383, 386-87, 

497-99, 507, 522-23. 
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Gorelick received a check for $15,000 from Loe in 

February 2019 with a memo that suggested the check was for 

his share of the business profits for "QTR 6." 2RP 166-67, 201, 

1235-36, 1284, 1286-87, 1388. Business records would later 

establish that the venture had only generated $9,800 by the time 

the check was issued. 2RP 1384-86. Gorelick declined to 

deposit the check so that Loe could continue to use the funds to 

build her business. 2RP 1235, 1280, 1287-88, 1439. 

By May 2019, Gorelick's children had changed their 

responsibilities under the POA; Paula resigned and Kenneth 

took over as attorney in fact. 2RP 48, 73-74, 136, 151-56, 175, 

192-93, 195, 636-37, 1208, 1240. No one discussed this change 

with Gorelick. 2RP 156, 192-95. Kenneth who stood to inherit 

one third of Gorelick' s $3 million dollar estate when he died, 

was concerned about the terms of the agreements with Loe and 

the amounts Gorelick was contributing to her business. 2RP 19, 

37-40, 126-27, 135, 194-95, 1206-07. 
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Kenneth repeatedly emailed Loe, asking for clarification 

of the contract and investments. 2RP 41-48, 54-56, 60-65. 

When Loe' s responses did not satisfy him, Kenneth also 

contacted several attorneys. 2RP 43, 45-46, 65-66. Later that 

month, Kenneth recorded a conversation with his father, with 

Gorelick's express permission, during which they discussed the 

family's concerns about Gorelick's transactions with Loe. 2RP 

69-73. 

Meanwhile, Gorelick provided EBC with a third check 

for $350,000 on May 16, 2019, which was accompanied by a 

letter explaining that it was intended as a gift. lRP 1217-25; 

2RP 48, 58, 464, 1018, 1216-17, 1251; 3RP 167, 311. In 

response, as power of attorney, Kenneth froze Gorelick's bank 

accounts to prevent any further transactions without his 

approval. 2RP 121. 

An attorney for Kenneth made a report to BPD in June 

2019 and Detective Ray Lofink began investigation of the 

claims against Loe. lRP 1198-99; 2RP 65-67, 161-62, 200, 
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1397-98, 1432. Lofink noticed significant memory issues 

between his two interviews of Gorelick, conducted 

approximately one week apart. lRP 1240, 1244; 2RP 1288-89. 

In mid-June, Anderson, who was aware of the existing POA, 

made a same-day appointment with an attorney who drafted a 

new POA that gave Anderson power over Gorelick's accounts, 

including the right to gift funds to non-family members and to 

pay herself for serving as his attorney in fact. 3RP 879-84, 886-

88, 892-93, 896-97, 904-06, 909-11, 913-14. The attorney had 

no concerns about Gorelick's mental capacity. 3RP 879-80, 

882-84, 886-88, 892-93, 896-97, 904, 909-10, 913-14. 

Gorelick had been administered a cognitive screening 

assessment by his primary care provider on June 18, 2019, but 

declined the recommendation for further testing. 2RP 679, 725; 

3RP 943-45, 953-54, 965-69, 972-73. By this time, APS also 

opened an investigation. In early July 2019, Kenneth, Paula, 

and Gorelick had a tense conversation in the kitchen at 

Gorelick' house where they again discussed the transactions 
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with Loe. Anderson was also present for parts of the 

conversation, though she was repeatedly asked to leave. 

Kenneth recorded this conversation. CP 1046-1221. Gorelick 

insisted that Loe's venture just needed more time before he 

would see a return on his investments, but he was unable to 

articulate what the business was and appeared surprised to learn 

that he had contributed nearly $900,000 to date. 2RP 76-121, 

123-24, 139, 141-42, 162. 

As part of the investigation, Gorelick was also subjected 

to several cognitive functioning tests, given concerns that he 

was suffering from dementia. 2RP 251. One such test in June 

2019 was suggestive of moderate cognitive impairment. 2RP 

249-51, 253-55, 261-63, 267, 289-90. Another exam paid for by 

Gorelick's family in July 2019, concluded that Gorelick was 

suffering from "unspecified neurocognitive disorder" but 

stopped short of diagnosing him with dementia or Alzheimer's. 

2RP 606, 646, 658-59, 673, 679, 685, 710, 716. Gorelick was 

noted to have cognitive deficits in short term memory, math, 
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and information retention, leading to the opinion that he lacked 

the capacity to make financial and legal decisions. 2RP 663-70, 

674-75, 687, 715, 729-31, 1139-40. The evaluator believed that 

Gorelick would have been showing signs of cognitive 

impairment as early as 2016. 2RP 675-76, 686, 696, 720, 723, 

732, 735. 

Based on this evidence, Loe was charged with three 

counts of theft from a vulnerable adult in the first degree and 

two counts of securities fraud, all of which carried allegations 

of special aggravating factors. CP 654-57. The State asserted 

that all of the charged crimes were major economic offenses or 

a series of such offenses, as defined by statute, and, as to the 

securities fraud charges, that Loe had committed those crimes 

knowing that Gorelick was a particularly vulnerable victim. CP 

654-57. Gorelick died on November 19, 2019, before the case 

went to trial. 2RP 21, 126,286,297, 300, 1220. 
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2. The kitchen table recording. 

Before trial, the prosecution sought to introduce multiple 

statements Gorelick made to certain individuals before his 

death.3 CP 1024-45. This included an audio recorded 

conversation made at Gorelick's home wherein Kenneth and 

Paula confronted him about the money he had given to Loe, his 

purpose for doing so, and detailed Loe's alleged use of that 

money. CP 1064, 1098-1160. 

The prosecutor acknowledged there was "no 

acknowledgement on the recording that there was consent to 

record[]." CP 1030. The prosecutor nonetheless maintained that 

"[p ]rior to the recording of the conversation, Kenny told 

Gorelick and Paula that he was recording the conversation, and 

both affirmatively consented to the recording. This 

3 Loe initially objected to several of these statements on 
hearsay, confrontation clause, and privacy act grounds, but 
subsequently raised a privacy act objection only to the recorded 
statement challenged here. CP 1046-1158; CP 679-85, 707-09; 
lRP 550, 718-19, 754-57. 
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announcement was made prior to the recording starting." CP 

1022. 

The prosecution argued that Gorelick had no reasonable 

expectation of privacy in the conversation because it involved 

multiple people, including Anderson. Id.; lRP 763, 767. The 

prosecution also argued the statutory requirement that a 

recording include an announcement that it would be recorded 

was not required because Gorelick affirmatively consented to 

the recording. lRP 762. Initially, the prosecution maintained 

that Kenneth's cellphone which recorded the conversation "was 

visible and placed on the table next to Kenny." CP 1022. The 

prosecution later clarified that it was not "proposing that this is 

admissible because the recording device was obvious. That's 

not the state's argument." lRP 762. 

Loe objected to admission of the recording, arguing that 

it violated the privacy act. CP 679-85, 707-09, 1062; lRP 550, 

718-19. Loe argued that Gorelick had an expectation of privacy 

because the recording occurred in his own home. 1 RP 7 61. Loe 
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also maintained there was no admonishment on the recording 

itself to suggest that any of the pmiicipants knew they were 

being recorded. lRP 761. Loe maintained that Kenneth's 

cellphone on the table did not make it readily apparent that the 

conversation was being recorded. Loe argued Anderson had not 

consented to the recording because she repeatedly said she did 

not want to talk about the allegations without an attorney 

present. lRP 761-62, 767. Similarly, Loe argued that Gorelick's 

repeated statements that he did not want to talk with Kenneth 

about the allegations demonstrated an intention to keep the 

conversation private. IRP 767-68. 

The trial court disagreed with the prosecution's 

contention that Anderson was an unintended participant in the 

conversation which demonstrated there was no expectation of 

privacy. IRP 763-67. In its oral ruling, the trial court concluded 

the portions of the recorded conversation involving only 

Gorelick, Kenneth, and Paula were not precluded by the privacy 

act. lRP 768. The court agreed with the prosecution's argument 
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that "if there is consent then the requirement that the 

announcement be on the recording 1s not necessary[.]" lRP 

768. 

The trial court excluded any pmiion of the recording 

where Anderson was involved in the conversation, concluding 

there was no evidence she had consented to the recording, and 

that she had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the home. 

lRP 769. The court then identified the various sections of the 

recording that were inadmissible under the privacy act. lRP 

769-71. 

No written findings of fact and conclusions of law were 

entered. An edited transcript of the recording was subsequently 

filed indicating which portions of the recording were admissible 

and which portions were excluded. CP 1159-1221. This 

included both the portions involving Anderson and those which 

were subsequently excluded for hearsay, relevance, or 

prejudicial reasons. Id.; lRP 956-67. The redacted recording 

was subsequently played for the jury during Kenneth's 
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testimony. 2RP 74-124. When the recording was played, the 

jury was instructed: 

For purposes of these recordings your 
consideration of Morris Gorelick' s statements is 
subject to the instruction I gave you earlier that his 
statements may be considered as they relate to his 
state of mind, mental condition, or intent but not 
for any other purpose. The statements of third 
parties, including Kenneth Gorelick, Paula 
Gorelick, and Detective Lofink, may only be 
considered for their impact on M01Tis Gorelick and 
may not be considered for any other purpose. 

2RP 78. See also, lRP 971, 1090-1105, 1182-83. 

Paula also testified about the recorded conversation, 

explaining that Gorelick had not wanted to speak with Kenneth 

and seemed suspicious of his own children, which was a change 

from his usual relationship with them. 2RP 1207, 1227-28, 

1240-41, 1258. 

3. Verdict and sentencing. 

A jury found Loe not guilty of first degree theft of a 

vulnerable adult as charged in count 1. 3RP 1193, 1208; CP 

900. Loe was convicted of two counts of first degree theft of a 
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vulnerable adult and two counts of securities fraud. 3RP 1192-

93; CP 901-04. The jury also returned special verdicts finding 

that each of the thefts and securities fraud offenses constituted a 

major economic offense or series of offenses. 3RP 1193-94; CP 

898, 905. The jury also found that Loe knew, or should have 

known, that Gorelick was particularly vulnerable for both of the 

securities fraud offenses. 3RP 1194; CP 896-97. 

Loe was sentenced to concurrent low end standard range 

sentences of 26 months on each of the thefts, and 12 months on 

the securities fraud. 3RP 1255-56; CP 996-1005. 12 months of 

community custody was also imposed. 3RP 1256; CP 1002-05. 

4. Appeal. 

Loe argued, inter alia, that admission of the kitchen table 

conversation violated the privacy act for several reasons. The 

Court of Appeals affirmed. Loe now seeks review. 
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D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 
ACCEPTED 

Admission of the recording involving a private 
conversation between Gorelick and his children 
violated the privacy act, and this case presents an 
opportunity to clarify the proper test and burden of 
proof. 

"Washington State's privacy act is considered one of the 

most restrictive in the nation." State v. Kipp, 179 Wn.2d 718, 

724, 317 P.3d 1029 (2014) (citing State v. Townsend, 147 

Wn.2d 666, 672, 57 P.3d 255 (2002)). "[T]he primary purpose 

of the privacy act is the protection of the privacy of individuals 

from public dissemination." State v. Fjermestad, 114 Wn.2d 828, 

834, 791 P.2d 897 (1990) (citing State v. Wanrow, 88 Wn.2d 

221, 559 P.2d 548 (1977)). 

The act includes RCW 9.73.030(l )(b), which prohibits 

the recording of a "[p ]rivate conversation, by any device 

electronic or otherwise designed to record or transmit such 

conversation . . .  without first obtaining the consent of all the 

persons engaged in the conversation." Recordings obtained in 
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violation of the Privacy act are categorically inadmissible in 

most4 civil and criminal cases. RCW 9.73.050. A defendant has 

standing to object to evidence obtained in violation of the 

statute, even if not a participant in the conversation. State v. 

Williams, 94 Wn.2d 531, 534, 546, 617 P.2d 1012 (1980). 

Alleged violations of the privacy act are reviewed de 

novo. State v. Bilgi, 19 Wn. App. 2d 845, 855, 496 P.3d 1230 

(2021), review denied, 199 Wn.2d 1002, 504 P.3d 827 (2022). 

"The party seeking to admit evidence bears the burden of 

establishing its admissibility." State v. Fields, 31 Wn. App. 2d 

687, 709, 553 P.3d 71 (2024). 

A trial court's decision to deny a motion to suppress is 

reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 

412, 421, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). Unchallenged findings of fact 

are considered verities on appeal, and the trial court's 

conclusions of law must be supported by its findings of fact. 

State v. Homan, 181 Wn.2d 102, 106, 330 P.3d 182 (2014); 

4 Certain exceptions do not apply here. See RCW 9.73.050. 
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State v. Glant, 13 Wn. App. 2d 356, 364, 465 P.3d 382, review 

denied, 196 Wn.2d 1021, 474 P.3d 1055 (2020). This Court 

reviews the trial court's conclusions of law de novo, and 

unchallenged conclusions of law become the law of the case. 

Bilgi, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 855. 

a. The recorded conversation was private. 

Because the privacy act does not define "conversation," 

courts may use a dictionary to discern the plain meaning of that 

term. Newton v. State, 192 Wn. App. 931, 937, 369 P.3d 511, 

review denied, 186 Wn.2d 1003, 380 P.3d 446 (2016). 

Webster's Third New International Dictionary 498 (2002), 

defines "conversation" in pertinent paii as an "oral exchange of 

sentiments, observations, opinions, ideas : colloquial discourse." 

The privacy act also does not define "private," but this 

Court has held it to mean, '"belonging to one's self . . .  secret . .  . 

intended only for the persons involved ( a conversation) . .  . 

holding a confidential relationship to something . . . a secret 

message: a private communication . . .  secretly: not open or in 
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public. "' State v. Clark, 129 Wn.2d 211, 225, 916 P.2d 384 

(1996) (alterations in original) (quoting Kadoranian v. 

Bellingham Police Dep' t, 199 Wn.2d 178, 189-90, 829 P.2d 

1061 (1992)). A communication is private under the act when 

(1) the parties have a subjective expectation that it is private, 

and (2) that expectation is objectively reasonable. State v. 

Modica, 164 Wn.2d 83, 88, 186 P.3d 1062 (2008). Among 

other things, the subject matter, the location of the participants, 

the potential presence of third parties, and the roles of the 

participants are relevant to whether the communication is 

private. Clark, 129 Wn.2d at 225-27. Whether a conversation is 

private is a question of fact but may be decided as a question of 

law if the facts are not meaningfully in dispute. Modica, 164 

Wn.2d at 87. 

Each of the relevant factors supports the conclusion that 

Gorelick had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the 

conversation. The conversation took place in his home, in the 

personal company of his children, over dinner. Although 
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Anderson was present for portions of the conversation, she was 

repeatedly told not to interfere m the conversation, 

demonstrating that Kenneth's subjective intention was the 

conversation was "intended only for the persons involved" i.e. 

"private." Clark, 129 Wn.2d at 225. 

Similarly, Gorelick' s repeated refusal to discuss certain 

details, despite Kenneth's persistence, demonstrates his 

subjective intention was also that the conversation remain 

private. See Fields, 31 Wn. App. 2d at 710-11 (recognizing 

subjective intent that a conversation be private can exist even 

where a party does not explicitly state as much, such as by 

stating they do not wish to be recorded); Modica, 164 Wn.2d at 

88 (refusing to hold "that a conversation is not private simply 

because the participants know it will or might be recorded or 

intercepted.") The recording contains no affirmative consent 

from Gorelick. Interspersed in the conversation were mundane 

topics, including discussions about food and movies. 
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Based on the location of the conversation, parties 

involved, and topics discussed, it was reasonable for Gorelick 

to have both a subjective and reasonable expectation of privacy. 

The trial court appeared to agree. See lRP 763-66, 768-69 

( acknowledging "there's a reasonable expectation that when 

you're having a conversation in a private home, it's private."). 

The Court of Appeals, however, concluded the 

conversation was "not subject to the privacy act because the 

conversation was not private; given the nature and 

circumstances of the conversation there was no reasonable 

expectation of privacy." Op. at 17. The Court cited the fact that 

because formal investigations and civil lawsuits had begun 

before the conversation, the topics discussed therein were 

squarely in the public sphere. Op. at 15-17. This conclusion 

conflicts with the purpose and protections of the privacy act and 

this Court's opinion in Kipp. 

Accused of sexually assaulting his meces, Kipp was 

confronted by their father, who secretly recorded their 10-
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minute conversation and then disclosed it to the police . .Kirm_, 

179 Wn.2d at 723. Kipp argued the recording violated the 

privacy act because he had a reasonable expectation that he was 

speaking privately with his brother-in-law about a sensitive 

matter. Id. at 722-23. 

This Court agreed, concluding that the location of the 

conversation, family participants, and absence of a third party, 

demonstrated the conversation was private and should have 

been suppressed. Id. at 730-33. Recognizing "[a] private home 

is normally afforded maximum privacy protection[,]" the Court 

rejected the assertion that a kitchen was a per se common area 

subject to less protection. Id. at 731. 

As in Kipp, Gorelick had a subjective and reasonable 

expectation of privacy in his own home while speaking with his 

children about a topic he wished not to discuss. The Court of 

Appeals reasoning contradicts this authority and impliedly 

holds the privacy act is never implicated-regardless of 

location, participants, and consent-if the topics discussed 
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therein have already entered the "public sphere." Op. at 17. 

Such reasoning not only undermines the purpose of 

Washington's privacy act but also erodes its protection as one 

of the nation's strictest. Kirfil, 179 Wn.2d at 724. 

b. Gorelick did not consent to the recording. 

RCW 9.73.030( l )(b) also requires the "consent of all the 

persons engaged in the conversation." The statute further 

provides that consent shall be considered obtained "whenever 

one party has announced to all other parties engaged in the 

communication or conversation, in any reasonably effective 

manner, that such communication or conversation is about to be 

recorded or transmitted:  PROVIDED, That if the conversation 

is to be recorded that said announcement shall also be 

recorded." RCW 9.73.030(3) (emphasis added). 

Consent may be implied when the party knows the 

messages will be recorded. See � Townsend, 189 Wn.2d at 

676; In re Marriage of Farr, 87 Wn. App. 177, 184, 940 P.2d 

679, review denied, 134 Wn.2d 1014, 958 P.2d 316 (1998)). 
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Here, the prosecution conceded, "there is no acknowledgment 

on the recording that there was consent to record[.]" CP 1029. 

Still the trial court agreed with the prosecution that "if there is 

consent then the requirement that the announcement be on the 

recording is not necessary[.]" lRP 768. While the prosecution 

represented that Gorelick consented to the recording 

beforehand, no evidence of this fact was introduced. Indeed, at 

trial Kenneth and Paula stopped short of saying that Gorelick 

had consented to the recording. See 2RP 7 4 (Kenneth testifying 

Gorelick knew he was being recorded, not that he consented to 

being recorded), 1207, 1215 (Paula neither asserting Gorelick 

knew or consented to being recorded). 

To be sure, Gorelick's repeated refusals to discuss the 

matter, coupled with his assertions on the recording that he did 

not want to discuss the issue, also undermines the argument that 

he consented to the recording, explicitly or impliedly. See CP 

1160, 1168, 1170-72, 1176-78, 1194, 1213. 2RP 76, 81-83, 86-

87, 96, 114, 1207, 1227-28, 1258. 
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The Court of Appeals properly recognized the State 

failed to elicit the testimonial evidence that would have 

supported the trial court's ruling on the admissibility of the 

kitchen table recording." Op. at 14. The Court of Appeals 

nonetheless reasoned that despite the State's failure to meet its 

burden, the issue was waived for appeal, because it construed 

the trial court's ruling as "preliminary" and faulted Loe for not 

renewing her objection. Id. Such reasoning, improperly shifts 

the burden to Loe, is belied by the record in this case, and 

conflicts with Fields. 

Again, "[t]he party seeking to admit evidence bears the 

burden of establishing its admissibility." Fields, 31 Wn. App. 

2d at 702, 710. Under the privacy act, this means the 

prosecution must prove the act does not apply or the recording 

is subject to an exception, and that "consent of all persons 

engaged in the conversation" was obtained. RCW 9.73.030 

( l)(b), (3); Fields, 31 Wn. App. at 709-10. Loe has no burden 

under the privacy act, and the Court of Appeals contrary 
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reasonmg improperly shifts the burden to her to prove the 

recording is inadmissible. 

In any event, Loe undisputedly objected to admission of 

the recording, arguing that it violated the privacy act. CP 679-

85, 707-09; lRP 550, 718-19. As Loe argued, "Kenneth 

Gorelick recorded the conversation without everyone 's 

consent[.]" CP 682 (emphasis added). Loe further detailed her 

objection, 

The biggest concern I have with that is Mr. 
Kenneth Gorelick claims he notified Bonnie -
sorry - that he notified Paula and his father that it 
was being recorded, but that is not on the 
recording. And the statute itself requires that the 
notice of recording be on the recording itself. 

lRP 761 (emphasis added). Loe continued, "[ .. . ] I would argue 

that a cell phone sitting on a table next to them does not make it 

readily apparent that it's being recorded." IRP 762 ( emphasis 

added). 

The party who loses a ruling in limine has a standing 

objection and does not need to object again : "Unless the trial 
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court indicates further objections are required when making its 

ruling, its decision is final, and the party losing the motion in 

limine has a standing objection." State v. Kelly, 1 02 Wn.2d 

188, 193, 685 P.2d 564 (1984). Loe set forth the legal basis for 

her objection and the trial court had an opportunity to consider 

and prevent the error before it occurred. See City of Seattle v. 

Levesque, 12 Wn. App. 2d 687, 696, 460 P.3d 205 (2020) 

(rejecting prosecution's waiver argument where the record 

reflected the defendant's "objections were sufficiently specific 

and timely to give the trial court opportunity to correct any 

error"). 

The trial court did not suggest its privacy act ruling was 

tentative or that Loe needed to object again. lRP 768-73; CP 

1159-1221. No further objection was required to preserve the 

issue. See Kelly, 1 02 Wn.2d at 192-93 (holding defense counsel 

did not need to "lodge a subsequent objection" when the trial 

court made "a determination as to the admissibility of the 
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questioned testimony prior to its introduction at trial"). The 

Court of Appeals is incorrect. 

Because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this 

Court's opinion in Kipp, Division One's opinion in Fields, and 

involves application of the privacy act, an issue of substantial 

public interest, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4 (b) (1), (2), 

and (4). 

E. CONCLUSION 

Loe respectfully asks this Court to grant review and 

reverse her convictions. 

I certify that this document contains 4,892 words, 
excluding those portions exempt under RAP 18.17. 

DATED this 12th day of February, 2025. 

Respectfully submitted, NIELSEN �:NNIS, PLLC 

JARED B. STEED, 
WSBA No. 40635 
Attorney for Petitioner 
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UNPUBL ISHED OPIN ION 

HAZELRIGG, A .C .J .  - Elle Barksda le Loe appeals from her j u ry conviction 

for two cou nts of theft from a vu lnerab le adu lt in the first degree and two counts of 

securities fraud .  She asserts that reversa l  is requ i red based on a n umber of 

erroneous evidentiary rul ings before a nd d u ring tria l .  Loe further contends the trial 

cou rt erred i n  the imposit ion of interest on the restitution award it issued at 

sentencing.  As to the evidentiary issues, we d isagree and affirm , however we 

remand for the court to app ly the statutory factors regard ing interest on restitution . 

FACTS 

E l le Barksdale Loe came into contact with Morris Gore lick th rough her 

mother ,  Bonn ie Anderson ,  who h ad been Morris' l ive- in caretaker for several years 

fol lowing the death of Morris' wife . 1 After Loe lost her  marketing job for a restau rant 

in 201 6, she sought to expand her own pre-existing bus iness and continued to 

1 Several people involved with this case share the same last name. We refer to the 
defendant by her last name, but use first names for several other witnesses and involved parties 
for the sake of clarity and p recision. No d isrespect is i ntended . 
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work i n  marketing .  I n  this capacity, she assisted several cl ients with u pdating their 

business b rand ing , producing marketing materials, and assisting with campaigns 

o n  soc ia l  med ia .  After two years, Loe sought to expand her business to include 

co-marketing deals with reality tv personal ities to sell a number of products , 

incl u d i n g  eyewear and sleepwear. Seeking investment capital ,  Loe approached 

Morr is for funds to expand her business in 201 8 .  At the time, Morris was 97 years 

o ld  and  had owned and operated several businesses over the cou rse of h is 

work ing  l ife . Morris' daughter, Paula Gorel ick, had been present when Loe in it ial ly 

p roposed the i nvestment to Morris and had cautioned h im not to contribute more 

t han  $25 ,000 . 

I n  M ay 20 1 8 , Loe and her then-husband ,  Trevor Loe , drafted a contract to 

cla r ify that, in exchange for h is $ 1 00,000 investment, Morris would be  entitled to 

1 5  percent  of a l l sa les u nti l  he had been repaid 1 25 percent of h is investment 

amou nt. After that, he wou ld receive 2.5 percent of sales for three years. The 

contract further  estab l ished that, if Morris did not receive the 1 25 percent  return on 

h is i nvestment with in three years ,  he would receive 20 percent equ ity ownersh ip 

i n  the b usiness. Trevor helped prepare the contract and is ident ified in the 

d ocument as the chief financial officer (CFO) of the company, but was not present 

when Loe and Morris signed it. 2 Morris had g ranted powers of attorney to Paula ,  

and she had been help ing h im with various financial tasks for some time , but she 

d id not review the i n itia l contract between Loe and her  father. Morris wrote Loe a 

check for $ 1 00 ,000,  dated May 1 6 , 20 1 8 , to help get her business go i ng .  Loe d id 

2 Trevor was offered immunity from prosecution in exchange for his test imony at trial . 
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take steps to launch the new venture ;  she met with suppl iers and contracted with 

various web d esigners ,  photographers ,  styl ists , and models. These efforts 

resulted in a few social med ia pages, web pages, and a bus wrap advertising one 

of the p roducts . However ,  sales ended in August 201 8 . 

Shortly thereafter ,  Loe offered Morris a p romissory note i n  exchange for a 

loan to her  and  Trevor in the amount of $2 1 0 ,000 . Morris explained that he would 

not be making any loans to Loe , because he was only interested i n  making 

investments. In September  20 1 8 ,  Loe and Morris executed a second contract 

which deemed Morris a s i lent partner to Loe in exchange for h is $450,000 

investment and entitled h im to 20 percent of the ann ua l  p rofit. It further noted that 

Morris wou ld receive a 47 percent equity ownersh ip if h is investment was not 

repaid with in  fou r  years.  This contract also l isted Trevor as the C FO,  but he did 

not sign the agreement. Trevor fi led for d ivorce from Loe shortly before the second 

contract was executed.  

The fol lowing month , Morris opened a joint cred it card with Loe. During h is 

call to the cred it card company, the rep resentative heard a woman in  the 

background who they bel ieved was coaching Morris th rough the request. The 

representative contacted the Bellevue Police Department (BPD) to report their 

concerns .  After BPD visited Morris at home to investigate, Loe's mother contacted 

Pau la to advise that she may receive a phone call from pol ice , but advised her to 

"just say it's a lright . "  Morris told Pau la substantial ly the same th ing ,  so that is what 

she later told pol ice . Pau la had d iscussed earl ier concerns about the contracts 

with her b rothe r, Brian Gore l ick, and i n  December 201 8 ,  Morris' friend and 
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i nvestment  advisor, James Parsons, prepared a financia l  power of attorney (POA) 

documen t  that immediately estab l ished Paula as her father's attorney in fact . I n  

the even t  that Paula resigned from that role, authority would fa l l  to Brian and then 

to M o rr is '  other son ,  Kenneth Gorel ick. Parsons, a business attorney who h ad 

known M o rris for many years,  had no concerns about Morris' capacity to execute 

the POA. 

M o rris received a check for $ 1 5 ,000 from Loe in February 20 1 9  with a 

memo that  suggested the check was for h is share of the business profits for "QTR 

6." Bus in ess records wou ld later establ ish that the venture had only generated 

$9 ,800 by the time the check was issued , which d id not comport with the amount 

Morris received from Loe based on the terms in the contract. Pau la later said that 

Morris d ec l ined to deposit the check so that Loe cou ld continu e  to use the funds  

to bu i l d  her  business. 

By May 201 9 , Morris' ch i ld ren had changed their responsibi lities u nder the 

POA; Pau la resigned and Kenneth took over as attorney in fact. Ken neth was 

concerned about the terms of the agreements w ith Loe and the amounts Morris 

was contributing to her business. He e-mailed Loe several t imes with q uestions 

about  the business relationsh ip and i nvestment transactions .  Loe eventua l ly 

stopped respond ing .  Later that month , Kenneth recorded a conversation with h is 

father, with Morris' express permission ,  d u ring which they discussed the fam ily's 

concerns about Morris' transactions with Loe . The day after this recorded 

conversation , Anderson took Morris to Trevor's apartment where Loe typed what 

was purported to be a transcript of  Morris' oral statements .  Wh i le the document  is  
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titled "E l le Barksdale & Company LLC Govern ing Documents," much of the content 

consisted of editoria l commentary on the concerns raised by Morris' ch i ld ren ,  Loe's 

intentions regard ing the business and her relationsh ip with Morris ,  and other  

matters not  typical ly associated with the  governance of  a business entity. It d id ,  

however, ind icate that Morris gave Loe another $350,000 for "working capita l" and 

specifical ly noted that she was permitted to use these funds 

for to [sic] pay for anyth ing she deems necessary to help a id her 
business in contin ued / fu rther success. E lle referenced needing to 
pay for a b i l lboard or two , payro l l  for up  to 4-5 employees fu l l  time or  
part time and office re lated expenses including rent, insurance ,  travel 
credit card payments ,  and existing debt or  upcoming debt. 

The document was notarized as to Loe's signature only, though it d oes appear to 

contain Morris' s ignature as wel l .  Shortly after the check for $350 ,000 was issued 

to Loe , Ken neth took steps to freeze Morris' accounts. 

An attorney for Kenneth made a report to BPD in June 201 9 and Detective 

Ray Lofi nk  began investigation of the claims against Loe. Lofink noticed sign ificant 

memory issues between h is two interviews of Morris , conducted approximately one 

week apart. He obta ined a warrant to seize Loe's bank account. I n  m id-June, 

Anderso n ,  who was aware of the exist ing POA, made a same-day appointment 

with an attorney who d rafted a new POA that gave Anderson immed iate and 

u n l imited power over Morris' accou nts, including the right to g ift funds to non-family 

members and to pay herself for serving as h is attorney in fact. 

Morris had been admin istered a cogn itive screen ing assessment by his 

p rimary care p rovider on June 1 8 , 201 9 , but declined the recommendation for 

further  testing .  By th is t ime, Ad u lt P rotective Services (APS) a lso opened an 
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investigation . I n  early Ju ly 20 1 9 , Kenneth , Paula , and Morris had a tense 

conve rsation in the k itchen at Morris' house where they again d iscussed the 

transactions with Loe. Anderson was also present for parts of the conversation , 

though she was repeatedly asked to leave . Ken neth recorded this conversation .  

Morris i nsisted that Lee's venture just needed more time before he wou ld see a 

return on  h is investments,  but he  was u nable to articu late what the bus iness was 

and appeared surprised to learn that he had contributed nearly $900 ,000 to date . 

APS investigators had Morris complete a few d ifferent cogn itive tests in the 

early stage of their i nvestigation and eventual ly requested assignment of a more 

experienced investigator to h is case . I n  late Ju ly, Morris was admin istered a 

SLUMS 3 test as part of a comprehensive APS assessment and h is  score 

suggested he was experiencing sign ificant cogn itive impairment. Morris scored 8 

out of 30 and the evaluator noted "a score below 20 ind icates dementia" and that 

Morris had l ikely been struggl ing for months, if not years.  Morris passed away in  

November 201 9 whi le the investigation was ongoing . 

On February 1 4 , 2020, the State charged Loe with th ree counts of theft from 

a vu lnera ble adu lt i n  the first degree and two counts of securities fraud , a l l  of which 

carried a l legations of special aggravating factors . The State asserted that al l  of 

the charged crimes were major economic offenses or  a series of such offenses, as 

defined by statute ,  and ,  as to the securities fraud charges , that Loe had committed 

those crimes knowing that Morris was a particu larly vulnerable victim .  On J u ly 1 3 , 

2022, the State fi led an amended information that changed the charging period set 

3 "SLUMS" is the Saint Lou is University Mental Status exam, a cogn itive test designed to 
assess the subject's mental capacity. 
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out in counts 2 and 3 from September 2 to September 1 2  and May 6 to May 1 6 ,  

respectively. 

Loe moved pretria l  to exclude the recording of the conversation at Morris '  

kitchen tab le from early J u ly 201 9  based on purported violations of  her right to 

confrontation . At a rgument on the motion ,  Loe further averred that the record ing 

violated Anderson's privacy rights . The court agreed in part and admitted a 

redacted version of the record ing that omitted portions where Anderson was 

present. During tria l ,  Loe sought admission of a PowerPoint4 presentation 

designed to accompany the testimony of her defense expert, Lorra ine Barrick, as 

wel l  as several other exhib its . The court ra ised concerns about Barrick's ab il ity to 

lay an adequate foundation for some of the proposed exh ib its based on its 

assessment that some of her knowledge about the materials was based on ly on 

hearsay. Wh ile the judge a llowed many of the proffered exh ib its for i l lustrative 

purposes, she excluded severa l ,  inc luding a receipt, a model re lease, and a 

contract that Barrick cou ld not authenticate. 

The ju ry acquitted Loe of one of the th ree counts of theft from a vulnerable 

adu lt in the first degree (Count 1 ) ,  but convicted her on the two remain ing counts 

(Counts 2 and 3) and both counts of securities fraud (Counts 4 and 5) .  I t further 

found by special verd ict the aggravating factor that a l l  fou r  of the crimes of 

convict ion were major economic offenses or a series of offenses and ,  on Counts 

4 and 5, Loe knew or should have known that Morris was particularly vu lnerable or  

incapable of  resistance. The court calcu lated Loe's offender score as a 3 on a l l  

4 A sl ide show presentation appl ication by  the  M icrosoft Corporation. 
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counts and ,  despite the jury's find ings of aggravating factors , imposed standard 

range sentences on a l l  counts : 26 months i n  prison each on Counts 2 and 3 and 

1 2  months each on Counts 4 and 5. I t  fu rther o rdered that a l l  sentences wou ld run 

concurrently to each other and to another felony conviction under a separate King  

County cause n umber. The  cou rt a lso imposed 1 2  months o f  commun ity custody 

and a 1 0-year no contact o rder proh ib it ing Loe from contact with Kenneth or Pau la .  

The court ordered Loe to pay then-mandatory lega l  financial  ob l igations of 

a $ 1 00 DNA collection fee and $500 victim penalty assessment, awarded 

$900 ,000 in restitution to Morris' estate , and the judgment and sentence (J&S) 

contained form language that imposed interest on the restitution award . Loe then 

timely appealed . After Lee's appeal was accepted by th is court and she had bee n  

appointed appel late counsel ,  the tria l judge entered an order that remitted the lega l  

financial obl igations d ue to Lee's ind igency,  a n d  denied a number o f  other motions 

that appear to have been fi led after sentencing, but were not included in the record 

before us. 5 

ANALYSIS 

Loe avers the  tria l  court committed reversib le error when i t  admitted the 

redacted record ing of the kitchen tab le conversation with Morris, permitted Lofi nk  

to testify as to  h i s  opin ion about the February 201 9  check from Loe to Morris , and  

5 The other motions were for review of the denial of Loe's appl ication for a Department of 
Corrections community placement option and for a bond pending appeal .  Another request in the 
motion was less clear; in case the intent of Loe's motion to remit legal financial obl igations was 
intended to also capture the restitution award, the court denied such relief as well .  

Most of  these topics were previously addressed in the defense sentencing memo and 
effectively ruled on with the imposition of the sentence. However, the tr ial court appears to have 
treated Loe's postsentencing motions as motions for clarification. 
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excluded portions of the PowerPoint presentation Loe sought to admit th rough her 

defense expert . She also presents a cumu lative error arg ument and asserts that 

the court fa i led to properly consider the re levant statutory factors when it imposed 

interest on the restitution award . We consider each chal lenge in turn .  

I .  Admission o f  Recorded Conversation 

Loe first assigns error to the tria l court's ru l i ng to admit a recorded 

conversation between Ken neth , Paula,  Morris, and Anderson ,  a l leg ing that its 

admission violated the state p rivacy act, RCW 9 .73.050. She specifical ly argues 

that Morris had a reasonable expectation of privacy in h is home and that, in 

violation of the act, Morris' consent to the record ing was not captured by the 

recording itself. In response ,  the State asserts that whi le Loe argued in the trial 

court that the record ing of the incident the parties referred to as the kitchen 

conversation violated the p rivacy act as to Anderson ,  her contention regard ing 

Morris' rights under the privacy act are presented for the first time on appeal .  It 

fu rther asserts that, having fa i led to p reserve that error in the trial cou rt, we should 

not reach th is issue because Loe has not demonstrated that consideration for the 

first time on appeal is proper u nder RAP 2 .5 .  

A Stand ing and Preservation 

As a p rel iminary matter, though the tria l cou rt expressed doubt at the time 

of the hearing ,  Loe has standing to chal lenge the admission of the conversation 

even if she was not a participant. The State does not d ispute this point .  Our state 

privacy act expl icitly says that " [a]ny information obtained in vio lation of RCW 
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9 .  73.030 . . .  sha l l  be inadmissib le in any civ i l  or crimina l  case in a l l  courts of 

genera l  or l imited ju risd iction in th is state . "  RCW 9.73 .050 . Our Supreme Court 

has he ld that the p la in language of the statute a l lows defendants to chal lenge 

conversations even if they were not a party to the conversation .  

[T]he statute p recludes the use of  i l legal ly obtained information " in 
any civi l  or  crimina l  case"-whether it is the crimina l  prosecution of 
the participant in the conversation ,  o r  the prosecution of [the i r] 
codefendant. The statutory language and legislative h istory [of RCW 
9 .73.050) revea l  that "the leg islature 's p rimary purpose . . .  was the 
protection of the privacy of ind ividuals from publ ic d issemination ,  
even i n  the course of a pub lic tria l ,  of  i l legal ly obtained information .  

State v. Williams, 94 Wn .2d 531 , 545-46 , 6 1 7 P .2d 1 0 1 2  ( 1 980) (one alteration i n  

orig ina l )  (first quoting RCW 9 .73.050; and then quoting State v. Wanrow, 88 Wn.2d 

221 , 233,  559 P.2d 548 ( 1 977) (p lura l ity opin ion)) .  Thus,  Lee's cha llenge is not 

barred based on stand ing .  

Nonetheless , the State u rges th is court to decl ine to reach th is assignment 

of error and asserts that Lee's objection i n  the tria l  court fai led to preserve her 

argument as to Morris' rights u nder the privacy act. It fu rther contends that the 

issue is waived as Loe d id not present argument u nder RAP 2.5 to demonstrate 

that th is is a man ifest constitutional  error that wou ld a l low this court to consider it 

for the first time on appea l .  The State's arguments on this issue fai l .  

F i rst, Loe is not  argu ing a constitutiona l  right and relying on RAP 2 .5(a)(3 ) ,  

bu t  i s  a rgu ing a statutory right u nder RCW 9 .73.050. More critical ly, she expressly 

asserted that the primary barrier to admission of the record ing was the fact that 

neither Kenneth's notice of record ing nor Morris' or  Pau la's consent were captured 
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on  the record ing itself. This argument, alone, is sufficient to preserve the error for 

review. 

In her motions in l imine,  Loe cla imed that Morris' statements to Kenneth 

were "testimonial in nature" and ,  according ly, inadmissible against her based on 

the confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment to the Un ited States Constitution .  

She described the kitchen tab le conversation in great deta i l  and asserted that 

Ken neth's exchanges with Morris were "more structured as a typical interrogation" 

than the law enforcement interviews. As the party seeking to introduce the 

record ing of the kitchen table conversation , the State filed a written motion to admit 

the evidence u nder the privacy act. In its motion ,  the State laid out control l ing 

authority establ ish ing that chapter 9. 73 RCW appl ies on ly to conversations that 

are private where each participant has a reasonable expectation of privacy. With 

regard to the kitchen table conversation , the prosecutor argued that Kenneth , 

Morris ,  and Paula consented to the recording and that, wh ile it made no such 

assertions as to Anderson ,  the conversation was not private . Loe fi led a "Defense 

Reply to State's Privacy Act and Confrontation Clause Motions" that d id not cite or 

analyze the privacy act and , as with her motions in  l imine , solely focused on the 

confrontation clause. 

Soon thereafter, the court heard argument on the privacy act issue .  Loe's 

cou nsel began her presentation of the defense objection by noting that Kenneth 

asserted that he notified Morris and Pau la about the record ing ,  but that notice was 

not captu red on the recording itself. Counsel then moved on to concerns about 

Anderson's privacy rights .  Loe arg ued that the conversation was private because 
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it occurred in Morris' home and addressed a topic that was "not common o r  pub l ic 

knowledge." While Loe's b riefing d id not squarely address the privacy act, carefu l 

review of the report of p roceed ings establ ishes that she made sufficient argument 

as to the parties and the factors regard ing reasonable expectation of privacy such 

that the chal lenge is preserved . 

B .  Applicab i l ity of  Privacy Act 

We review al leged violations of the p rivacy act de novo . State v. Kamara, 

28 Wn. App. 2d 903, 909, 539 P .3d 48 (2023) , review denied, 2 Wn .3d 1 03 1  

(2024) .  "[S] ince whether the 'facts' a re encompassed by the statutory p rotections 

presents a question regard ing statutory i nterpretation ,  de novo review is the 

appropriate standard of review."  Id. (a lteration in orig inal) (quoting State v. Kipp, 

1 79 Wn .2d 7 1 8 ,  728 ,  3 1 7  P .3d 1 029 (201 4) ) .  Private conversations sha l l  not be 

recorded without the consent of the parties to those conversations .  RCW 

9 .73 .030(1 )(b) . That consent does not have to be expl icit, it can be impl ied i n  

several ways. State v. Smith, 1 89 Wn.2d 655 , 665 , 405 P .3d 997 (20 1 7) .  

"A party is deemed to have consented to a commun ication being 
recorded when another party has announced in an effective 
manner that the conversation wou ld be recorded ."  Also, "a 
commun icating party wi l l  be deemed to have consented to having 
[the i r] commun ication recorded when the party knows that the 
messages wil l be recorded. "  

Id. (citations omitted) (quoting State v. Townsend, 1 47 Wn .2d 666 , 675-76 , 57 P .3d 

255 (2002)) .  Whether the privacy act appl ies is a question of law that rests on  the 

particular facts of the case . Townsend, 1 47 Wn .2d at 673. In  determin ing whether 

a conversation is private , we look to the subjective i ntent of the parties and may 
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consider other factors , including the "du ration and subject matter of the 

commun ication ,  the location of the communication ,  and the presence of potential 

th ird parties . "  State v. Roden, 1 79 Wn.2d 893, 900, 321 P .3d 1 1 83 (201 4) . 

The court's decision on this matter tu rned on the appl icabi l ity of the privacy 

act to each of the involved parties . Kenneth had clearly consented to the record ing 

as he was the one who recorded it. The court properly noted that there is no 

requ irement that the announcement occur on the record ing if there is consent by 

the parties. However, because Anderson was not present when this 

announcement occurred , and no such notice was provided once record ing began, 

the court ru led that her portion of the conversation was precluded u nder the privacy 

act. The j udge further fou nd that Anderson ,  a live-in caretaker, had a reasonable 

expectation of privacy i n  the kitchen of the home where she worked and resided . 

The State's motion for admission of the kitchen tab le conversation relied 

substantial ly on Ken neth's assertion that he had notified both Morris and Paula 

and that they consented prior to the start of the record ing .  However, the court's 

rul ing that the portions of the conversation involving on ly Ken neth ,  Morris, and 

Pau la were adm issible was conditiona l .  The judge stated that "if there is consent, 

then the requ irement that the announcement be on the recording is not necessary." 

She made a prel iminary ru l ing based on the assertions of the parties , but i t  rested 

on evidence to be introduced at tria l .  Loe d id not object to this ru l ing ,  l ikely because 

it was cond it ional and the u ltimate determination wou ld be made after testimony 

about Morris' consent. 
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1 . Evidence of Consent 

The State 's motion to admit the kitchen table conversation expressly 

asserted "prior to the record ing of the conversation ,  Kenn[eth] to ld Morris and 

Pau la that he was record ing the conversation ,  and both affirmatively consented to 

the record ing."  However, at tria l ,  the State on ly asked Ken neth , "(D]id your dad 

know he was being recorded?" to wh ich Kenneth simply responded , "He d id ." The 

State did not ask whether Morris consented to the recording ,  nor did Ken neth offer 

such information .  Simi la rly, Pau la was never asked about Kenneth 's 

announcement pr ior to the record ing o r  whether she or  her father consented .  The 

State fai led to e l icit the testimon ia l  evidence that wou ld have supported the 

prel iminary rul ing on the admissibi l ity of the kitchen table recording .  More critical ly, 

Loe fa i led to object once it became clear that there was no evidence of consent to 

support that cond itiona l  ru l ing .  Fai lure to seek a final ru l ing waives any claim of 

error for appeal .  See State v. Riker, 1 23 Wn .2d 351 , 369 , 869 P .2d 43 (1 994) ;  

State v. Carlson , 61  Wn . App.  865, 875, 8 1 2  P.2d 536 ( 1 99 1 ) .  

2 .  Expectation of Privacy 

As an a lternate basis for admission as an exception to the privacy act, the 

State asserted that the parties did not have any reasonable expectation of privacy. 

Wh i le the court considered Anderson 's expectation of privacy in Morris' home,  it 

d id not engage in such ana lysis as to Morris and Paula .  The State's motion to 

admit the record ing cited State v. Babcock, 1 68 Wn . App . 598, 279 P .3d 890 (201 2)  

for the proposition that the privacy act necessarily on ly appl ies to conversations 

that are private . In Townsend, our Supreme Court held that courts must determine 
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whether the parties man ifest a subjective i ntent that the conversation is private and 

then ,  whether that expectation is reasonable .  1 47 Wn.2d at 673. During argument 

on the p retrial motion ,  the State properly cited the factors under State v. Clark that 

are used to a nswer those two questions: the subject and d uration of the 

commun ication ,  location ,  presence of th ird parties , and the role of the 

nonconsenting party in re lation to the consenting party. 1 29 Wn.2d 2 1 1 ,  224-27, 

9 1 6  P .3d 384 ( 1 996) . 

While no one factor is determinative , the relationship between the parties 

here is particu larly sal ient. At th is point in the events leading up to the fi l ing of 

crimina l  charges, Ken neth and Pau la's position was open ly adverse to that of 

Anderson because of her re lationship to Loe and invo lvement in the various 

deal ings,  wh i le Morris was at the center of the confl ict .  This can be demonstrated 

by a brief overview of events that preceded the kitchen table conversation . 

• Early i n  May 201 9 , Ken neth e-mai led Loe with questions regarding her 
bus iness relationsh ip with h is father. This exchange clearly escalated 
and became increasingly adversaria l  u nt i l  Loe ceased respond ing .6 

• At the end of May, Pau la stepped down as Morris' attorney in fact and 
Ken neth assumed the ro le, consistent with h is increasing involvement in 
the s ituation .  

6 Kenneth's first e-mai l ,  sent on May 5, sought clarification about the contract and payment 
schedule. Kenneth's attorney in Cal iforn ia ,  Lee B lackman, also requested the operating agreement 
from Loe in an e-mail dated May 6. Loe's reply was not responsive to these requests. 

Kenneth e-mailed Loe again on May 22 to request the return of the money after Morris had 
written the $350, 000 check, but offered that he wou ld release the funds to Loe if she addressed his 
concerns. Loe then replied the same day and stated that she was "extremely confused by all that 
is going on" and she "never forced [Morris] to do anythi ng out of his comfort zone." She continued 
that she felt l ike she was being bul l ied and falsely accused , and explained, "I feel l ike you are 
turning many things into something they are not and I wi l l  have my Attourney [sic] step in at this 
point before I do anyth ing e lse" and that she "never thought this was going to be some huge issue" 
and was "extremely upset with this and the way [she was] being treated. "  

Kenneth's next email stated that he was " not trying to point fingers" and was "only trying to 
protect" h is father, but reiterated a request for the return of Morris' money and to provide a 
repayment schedu le. Kenneth sent two more emails after that, but Loe d id not reply. 
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• Also i n  May, Kenneth retained Wash ington  counsel ,  Quentin Wildsmith , 
at the suggestion of h is Cal iforn ia attorney, Lee Blackman . 

• Wildsmith then contacted both APS and BPD.  

• Ken neth took steps to freeze Morris' accounts to prevent Loe from 
gain ing access to more money. 

• Wildsmith i n itiated a civi l  su it to recover money from Loe . 

• On June 5 ,  201 9 ,  Lofink  was assigned to the case by BPD.  

• On June 1 1 ,  Lofink visited Morris and interviewed h im regard ing the 
al legations against Loe whi le Paula was present. 

• One week later, on June 1 8 , Lofink  vis ited Morris again .  According to 
Lofink ,  Anderson tried to prevent the two from meeting .  Lofink  retu rned 
after Anderson had left and Morris consented to a second interview. 

• On June 26, an APS investigator, Paige Law, visited Morris. Morris 
asked for Paula to be present and Law admin istered a cogn itive test to 
Morris , the resu lts of wh ich suggested moderate impairment. 

• The kitchen table conversation between Kenneth , Paula , and Morris 
occurred on Ju ly 2 ,  201 9 . Anderson was a lso present and ,  at times , 
interrupted , despite being repeated ly asked to leave . 

The duration of the kitchen table conversation d oes not provide much d i rection i n  

terms of  admissibi l ity. S imi larly, the  fact that it occurred in Morris' kitchen cuts both 

ways; whi le it was h is home and Anderson a lso resided there as h is caretaker ,  the 

conversation took p lace in a shared area of a residence with a lower expectation 

of privacy than a bedroom, office, or  bathroom . 

The chronology of events lead ing up  to the kitchen table conversation 

estab l ishes that the i nvolved parties were at odds. Loe conceded at argument on 

the motion that "[a]I I  fou r  people were aware of the a l legations ,  aware of the pol ice 

i nvestigation , and APS investigation going on in the background , "  though she also 

argued "that th is was not common or publ ic knowledge at th is point ." The subject 
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of the conversation , put b luntly, was whether Loe and her mother, Anderson ,  had 

been financia l ly exploit ing Kenneth and Pau la's elderly father. And ,  despite Loe's 

arguments to the contrary, the fi l ing of officia l reports to government agencies l ike 

BPD and APS p laces these concerns square ly i nto the pub lic sphere .  Formal 

i nvestigations were u nderway and Ken ny and Pau la had i n itiated a civi l  su it against 

Loe to attempt to recover the funds Morris had provided to her. The Gorel icks 

clearly d id not want Anderson involved in the conversation as they can be heard 

repeated ly te l l ing her to leave . These factors ,  as a whole , support a conclusion 

that th is conversation was not subject to the privacy act because the conversation 

was not private; g iven the nature and c ircumstances of the conversation there was 

no reasonable expectation of privacy. The trial court d id not err when it ru led to 

admit the redacted record ing of the k itchen tab le conversation .  

I I .  Opin ion Testimony 

In her second assign ment of error, Loe asserts that the tria l  cou rt improperly 

a l lowed Lofi nk  to offer opin ion testimony regard ing the check Loe provided to 

Morris pursuant to the profit-sharing agreement. We review the evidentiary 

decis ions of the tria l  court for abuse of d iscretion .  State v. Quaale, 1 82 Wn.2d 

1 91 ,  1 96 ,  340 P .3d 2 1 3  (20 1 4) .  "On appeal ,  a party may not ra ise an objection not 

properly preserved at tria l absent man ifest constitutional e rror ." State v. Powell, 

1 66 Wn .2d 73,  82 , 206 P .3d 32 1 (2009) (p lural ity opin ion) ;  RAP 2 .5(a)(3) .  Opinion 

testimony from lay witnesses is not per se inadmissible , but it is l im ited to "those 

opin ions or infe rences which a re . . .  rational ly based on the perception of the 

witness . "  ER 701 . "Testimony in the form of an op in ion or  inferences otherwise 
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admissible is not objectionable because it embraces an  u lt imate issue to be 

decided by a trier of fact. "  ER 704 . When determin ing the adm issib i l ity of op in ion 

testimony, the tria l  court must consider certa in factors , including " ( 1 ) the type of 

witness involved , (2) the specific nature of the testimony, (3) the nature of the 

charges, (4) the type of defense, a nd (5) the other  evidence before the trier of fact . "  

State v. Demery, 1 44 Wn .2d 753 ,  759 ,  30 P .3d 1 278 (200 1 ) .  

State: 

The testimony at issue occurred d u ring  Lofink's d i rect examination by the 

[State] : Okay. How is that check relevant to your  investigation ,  
detective? 

[Lofink] :  Wel l ,  the check , itself, has notations ind icating that it's k ind 
of a profit-sharing th ing for the investment. And so,  to receive a check 
for $1 5 ,000 when you ' re getting 1 5  percent wou ld imply a $ 1 00 ,000 
worth of sales. 

But we know by ana lyzing the Stripe[71 records that it was on ly 
$9,800 . So my opin ion is that check was mislead ing.  I t  was not 
accurate. 

[Defense] : Objection , provides an opin ion outs ide the scope of h is 
expertise. 

THE COURT: I 'm going to overru le. The answer can stand .  

Lee's objection was that the statement regard ing the check was outside the scope 

of Lofink's area of expertise. However, in b riefing Loe now avers that Lofink's 

testimony was an impermissib le opin ion on gu i lt ,  wh ich on ly the jury cou ld decide .  

She  specifica l ly asserts that th is implicates he r  right to a fa ir  jury tria l .  

I n  response, the State argues that we need not  reach th is  error because the 

objection in the tria l  cou rt was based on ER 702, wh ich governs op in ions of 

7 A digital payment processing appl ication .  
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qua l ified experts , and ER 703, wh ich addresses types of information on which an  

expert may re ly. However, Lee's chal lenge on appeal rel ies on ER 70 1 ,  opin ions 

by lay witnesses , and ER 704 ,  wh ich proh ib its opin ion testimony on the u ltimate 

issue to be decided by the trier of fact. Case law is clear that, in order to preserve 

a n  issue for appea l ,  such argument must be presented in  the tria l  court. 

We adopt a strict approach [to issue preservation] because tria l 
cou nsel's fa i lu re to object to the error robs the cou rt of the opportun ity 
to correct the error and avoid a retria l .  We wi l l  not reverse the trial 
court's decision to admit evidence where the tria l  cou rt rejected the 
specific ground upon wh ich the defendant objected to the evidence 
and then ,  on appeal ,  the defendant argues for reversal  based on an  
evidentiary rule not  ra ised at tria l .  

Powell, 1 66 Wn.2d at 82-83 (citation omitted) .  Because Lee's objections under 

ER 701 and 704 were not presented in the tr ia l  court ,  we decl ine to consider them 

now. 8 

I l l .  Exclusion of Defense Exh ib its 

Loe next assigns error to the exclusion of several exhibits she had intended 

to admit through the testimony of her  defense expert, Lorra ine Barrick, a certified 

publ ic accountant qua l ified in financial forensics and as a business appra iser. The 

tria l  cou rt's primary concern with these exh ib its was that Barrick cou ld not lay an 

adequate foundation because her knowledge of the exhib its was based on 

hearsay, specifical ly statements Loe made to Barrick. Among the items proffered 

but excluded was defense exh ib it 1 34 (Exh . 1 34) ,  a packet of prod uct and 

8 The State also notes in briefing that Loe did not attempt to satisfy RAP 2.5(a)(3) in order 
for this challenge to be considered for the first time on appeal as a manifest error affecting a 
constitutional right. Loe did engage in the test to establish manifest constitutional error, but not 
unti l her reply brief. It is well establ ished that we do not consider arguments raised for the first time 
in reply. Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 1 1 8  Wn.2d 801 , 809, 828 P .2d 549 ( 1 992). 
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packaging mockups, logos, examples from photoshoots, and other  marketing 

materia ls .  The court a lso considered , and excluded, a receipt from the eyewear  

suppl ier , the b rand ing contract with Katrina  Taylor, a model re lease form, and other 

documents. The court d id admit for i l lustrative purposes a mod ified version of 

Lee's PowerPoint that contained materials s imi lar to those excluded as part of Exh . 

1 34 :  p rod uct mockups, brand ing materials, photoshoots, and the bus wrap .  Loe 

asserts that exclusion of these materials was improper because Barrick re l ied on  

them in forming he r  conclusions regard ing the state of Lee's business venture .  

We review the admission of  evidence related to  expert testimony for abuse 

of d iscretion . State v. Gentry, 1 25 Wn .2d 570, 588, 888 P .2d 1 1 05 ( 1 995) . An 

abuse of d iscretion has occurred on ly if the tria l  court's decision was '"manifestly 

un reasonable or based on untenable g rounds or decisions."' In re Pers. Restraint 

of Morris, 1 76 Wn.2d 1 57 , 1 69 , 288 P .3d 1 1 40 (201 2) (plura l ity opin ion) (quoting 

State v. Powell, 1 26 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P .2d 6 1 5  ( 1 995)) .  The opin ion testimony 

from expert witnesses is governed by ER 702, which establ ishes, 

I f  scientific, techn ical ,  or  other specia l ized knowledge wi l l  
assist the tr ier of fact to understand the evidence or  to determine a 
fact in issue,  a witness qua l ified as an expert by knowledge,  ski l l ,  
experience, tra in ing ,  or  education ,  may testify thereto in the form of 
an opin ion or otherwise. 

In arriving at an op in ion ,  an expert may rely on evidence that is otherwise 

inadmissible, provided it is of a type rel ied on by experts in their particular field . 

ER 703 . "The expert may testify i n  terms of opin ion or  inference and g ive reasons 

therefor without prior d isclosure of the underlying facts or  data , u n less the judge 

requ ires otherwise. The expert may in any event be requ i red to d isclose the 
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u nderlying facts or  data on  cross examination . "  ER 705 (emphasis added) . The 

tria l cou rt can "exclude inadmissible information on which an expert has re l ied to 

prevent an expert's opportun ity to expla in the basis of an op in ion  from merely 

becoming 'a mechan ism for admitting otherwise inadmissible evidence"' or  to avoid 

the ru les of evidence enti re ly. State v. Caril, 23 Wn. App. 2d 4 1 6 , 427, 5 1 5 P.3d 

1 036 (2022) (quoting State v. Anderson , 44 Wn . App. 644 , 652 , 723 P.2d 464 

( 1 986)) ,  review denied, 200 Wn.2d 1 025, cert. denied, 1 44 S .  Ct. 1 25 (2023). 

Loe asserts that we should review the trial cou rt's interpretation of the rule 

de novo . However, without d i rectly asserting such a cla im,  Loe's briefing leans 

i nto the test for a purported denia l  of the right to present a defense.  Without such 

a chal lenge square ly before us ,  we decl ine to engage in that ana lysis as to do so 

wou ld resu lt in appl ication of an  improper standard of review. Where noth ing in 

the record suggests that the tria l court has misinterpreted the ru les of evidence,  

we review the decision to admit for abuse of d iscretion .  Gentry, 1 25 Wn.2d at  588. 

Here ,  the tria l court's evidentiary rul ing was with in its d iscretion for two reasons. 

F irst, ER 705 a l lows an expert witness to testify as to the basis of their op in ion ,  but 

it d oes not requ ire that the judge admit the materials that provide that basis. 

Second ,  a comparison between the evidence that was excluded and that wh ich 

was a l lowed establ ishes that Barrick was able to present a variety of materials to 

i l lustrate the basis of her opin ion ,  just not a l l  of the materia ls that Loe may have 

desired . 

Loe misses a crucial d istinction regard ing the i nteraction of the evidentiary 

ru les rega rd ing experts , their op in ions, and their testimony; the expert is a l lowed 
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to form an opin ion based on inadmissib le evidence ,  but th is rule does not mandate 

the subsequent admission of that evidence to the jury. 

At other t imes, as here ,  the party offering the expert may seek to ask 
the expert on  d i rect examination to relay inadmissible facts or data 
on which the expert has re l ied i n  forming opin ions. When 
inadmissible facts or  data are offered u nder ER 705, the tria l  court 
should "determine under ER 403 whether to a l low d isclosure of 
inadmissible underlying facts based u pon whether  the probative 
value of this i nformation outweighs its prejud icial or possibly 
m is leading effects . "  

Caril, 23 Wn . App .  2d a t  428 (quoting State v. Martinez, 78  Wn . App .  870 , 879, 

899 P . 2d 1 302 ( 1 995)) .  

The tria l  court d id not abuse its discretion a s  to this ru l ing ;  i t  perm itted 

Barrick to testify to her  overal l  conclusion ,  but d id not a l low her to relate a// of the 

information she re l ied on i n  reaching that opin ion. The jury d id not need the 

excluded items in o rder to understand how Barrick formed her opin ion .  The 

materials Barrick re l ied on that were admitted included ample evidence of Loe's 

business activities; product and packaging mockups , examples of photoshoots , 

the promotional bus wrap ,  as well as financial transactions with suppliers .  Further, 

a l lowing a l l  of Loe's proffered evidence via the PowerPoint presentation wou ld 

have exposed the jury to a variety of evidence for wh ich Barrick simply cou ld not 

lay an  independent fou ndation ;  specifical ly, the product and packing mockups, the 

invoice from the eyewear supplier, and the contract with Katrina  Taylor. Relevant  

to  the  specific evidence at  issue here, admission of  business records requ ires 

authentication of the records by someone qual ified to do so . RCW 5.45.020 . 

Barrick was not involved in Loe's business or  i n  the businesses of the parties with 

whom Loe was deal ing .  The on ly information Barrick had regard ing these records 
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came from inadmissib le hearsay statements from Loe herself. Because Barrick 

cou ld not independently authenticate these records ,  the trial court properly 

excluded them. 9 

IV. I nterest on Restitution 

Loe requests remand for the trial court to consider waiver of the interest on the 

restitution pursuant to an amendment to RCW 1 0 .82 .090 wh ich d i rects it to consider 

the indigency of the defendant, among other factors , before decid ing whether or not 

to impose interest on any restitution imposed . 

As a prel iminary matter, we must determine if Loe can benefit from a change 

in the relevant statute because her case was not yet final when the amendment 

became effective. Both parties rely on cases in the l ineage of State v. Ramirez which 

appl ied statutory amendments regard ing legal financial obl igations (LFOs) to a 

defendant whose case was sti l l  pending on appeal when the changes went into effect. 

1 91 Wn .2d 732, 747, 426 P.3d 7 1 4  (20 1 8) .  In  its brief, the State offers the d iscussion 

of Ramirez in State v. Jenks, 1 97 Wn.2d 708, 723-24, 487 P.3d 482 (2021 ), as l imiting 

prospective appl ication "to costs imposed upon conviction . "  The State asserts this 

reason ing does not apply to restitution because it is compensation to the victim and 

"not a cost related to the l itigation ." However, it is worth noting that Jenks addressed 

the prospective application of statutory amendments to the l ist of convictions that 

count towards persistent offender status. 1 97 Wn.2d at 722. There, our Supreme 

Court addressed Ramirez on ly to explain that its prospectivity analysis as to LFOs 

9 Because Loe has not demonstrated any error with respect to the trial ,  her claim of 
cumulative error necessarily also fai ls .  
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does not control on questions of reforms to persistent offender status and was 

inapplicable to Jenks'  appeal .  More critica l ly, the State's interpretation of "costs" as 

used in LFO jurisprudence is much less inclusive than that of our Supreme Court. 

In Ramirez, the trial court had imposed mandatory fees and costs a longside 

d iscretionary LFOs, specifical ly to recover attorney fees, and our Supreme Court 

g ranted review '"on the issue of d iscretionary [LFOs.]"' 1 9 1 Wn.2d at 738 (alteration 

in orig inal) .  The Supreme Court considered House Bi l l  1 783, which prohibited both 

the imposition of a previously mandatory fil ing fee and d iscretionary LFOs on ind igent 

defendants ,  and u ltimately determined that the amendments applied prospectively to 

cases pending on appeal when they became effective. Id. The opinion variously uses 

the terms "costs," "discretionary costs, "  "d iscretionary LFOs," "LFOs, "  and "fi l ing fee, "  

to describe the financial consequences i t  examined. Its prospectivity analysis relied 

in part on its earl ier opinion, State v. Blank, 1 31 Wn .2d 230, 930 P.2d 1 2 1 3  (1 997) . 

The court in Ramirez explained that Blank "consider[ed] the prospective application 

of cost statutes to criminal cases on appeal ." Ramirez, 1 91 Wn .2d at 748 (emphasis 

added) .  As the question before it in Ramirez also concerned "the court's abi l ity to 

impose costs on a criminal defendant following conviction , "  the court relied on Blank 

to hold that because the amendments in H .B .  1 783 "pertain[ed] to costs imposed upon 

conviction and Ramirez's case was not yet final when the amendments were enacted , 

Ramirez is entitled to benefit from the statutory change." Id. at 749 (emphasis added) .  

The Supreme Court unambiguously accepted review of  the question Ramirez' appeal 

presented regarding "discretionary LFOs" and it explicitly applied the same reasoning 

underpinn ing its prospectivity analysis concerning the statutory amendment regarding 
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the previously mandatory fil ing fee ,  to the amendments to d iscretionary LFOs 

contained in that same house bill that had amended the fi l ing fee. More critically, read 

as a whole , it is clear that our Supreme Court recogn ized the goal of H .B. 1 783 was 

to "address□ some of the worst facets of the system that prevent offenders from 

rebu i ld ing their lives after conviction" and noted that the changes implemented in that 

bi l l  included , in addition to those already d iscussed, el imination of interest on 

"nonrestitution portions of LFOs," repeated imposition of  the DNA collection fee i f  a 

sample had previously been provided , and sanctions for nonpayment of LFOs in the 

absence of a showing of wil lfu lness. Id. at 747. Further, it is not lost on this panel that 

the other key issue addressed in Ramirez was the adequacy of the trial court's inquiry 

when considering the imposition of legal financial obl igations on an ind igent 

defendant. Id. at 739-46. In short, the State's l imited interpretation of Ramirez is 

simply not supported by the inclusive language and express holdings set out in the 

opinion. 1 0  

I n  briefing,  the State seeks to d istinguish between "the statutory process for 

ordering costs from the process of restitution," and relies on State v. Ramos in support 

of th is position .  24 Wn . App. 2d 204, 520 P.3d 65 (2022), review denied, 200 Wn .2d 

1 033 (2023) . However, Ramos was challenging the imposition of restitution ,  accrued 

interest, and the victim penalty assessment on the grounds that they violated the 

excessive fines clauses in the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution 

10  Despite this court's consistent opinions on this issue, the State stands firm in its belief 
that we "wrongly rely on . . .  Ramirez. "  However, separate from the analysis set out herein ,  while 
further review was not sought in State v. Ellis, 27 Wn. App. 2d 1 ,  530 P .3d 1 048 (2023) the Supreme 
Court has denied review in both of the other cases the State claims incorrectly decided this issue. 
See State v. Reed, 28 Wn. App. 2d 779, 538 P.3d 946 (2023), review denied, 2 Wn.3d 1 035 (2024); 
State v. Schultz, 31 Wn. App. 2d 235, 548 P.3d 549 (2024) , review denied, 3 Wn.3d 1 022 (2024). 

The State fai ls to persuade us to depart from our interpretation of Ramirez. 
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and art. 1 ,  § 1 4  of the Washington State Constitution .  Id. at 2 1 2. As such, that case 

is inapposite here .  

Loe relies on State v. Wemhoff, 24 Wn. App. 2d 1 98 ,  51 9 P.3d 297 (2022) ,  

State v. Ellis, 27 Wn . App. 2d 1 ,  530 P.3d 1 048 (2023), and State v. Reed, 28 Wn. 

App. 2d 779, 538 P.3d 946 (2023) and their  respective references to Ramirez for the 

proposition that a defendant can avai l  themselves of the prospective benefits of a 

statute while an appeal is sti l l  pending, and remand for the trial court to consider 

financial burdens on an ind igent defendant in l ight of the changes in the statute is 

appropriate . In  the cases Loe offers on this issue, al l  of the d ivisions of this cou rt have 

interpreted Ramirez as authorizing remand to the trial court to apply statutory 

amendments to restitution and supervision fees for defendants whose cases were sti l l  

on appeal and therefore not yet fina l .  Wemhoff, 24 Wn . App. 2d at 202; Ellis, 27 Wn. 

App. 2d at 1 5-1 6 .  

The recently revised restitution statute g rants the trial court d iscretion in its 

decision to impose interest on the restitution it orders and expressly notes that while 

the court may decide against requ iring payment of interest on restitution,  it must first, 

inqu i re i nto and consider the fo l lowing factors: (a) Whether the 
offender is ind igent as defined in RCW 1 0.0 1  . 1 60(3) or  general  rule 
34; (b) the offender's avai lable funds,  as defined in RCW 
1 0 . 1 0 1 .0 1 0(2) , and other l iab i l ities inc lud ing chi ld support and other  
legal financial obl igations ;  (c) whether the offender i s  homeless; and 
(d )  whether the offender i s  menta l ly i l l ,  as  defined in RCW 7 1 .24.025. 
The cou rt sha l l  a lso consider the victim's input, i f  any,  as it re lates to 
any financial hardship caused to the victim if interest is not imposed . 
The court may a lso consider any other  i nformation that the court 
bel ieves,  i n  the interest of j ustice , relates to not imposing interest on 
restitution .  After consideration of  these factors ,  the cou rt may waive 
the imposition of restitution interest. 

RCW 1 0.82.090(2) . 
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Here ,  we adopt Loe's interpretation of Ramirez and its progeny and remand 

for the trial cou rt to consider the statutory factors for waiver of interest on restitution 

based on its previous finding of indigency. This reading comports with the rulings 

from other d ivisions on this issue and is d istinguishable from Ramos for the reasons 

d iscussed above. It a lso effectuates the stated intent of our  Supreme Court in 

Ramirez, that trial courts must consider "whether an ind ividual has the current and 

future abi l ity to pay" before imposing d iscretionary financial burdens on defendants. 

1 91 Wn.2d at 750. 

Affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded for consideration of the 

statutory factors for waiver of interest on restitution .  

WE CONCUR:  
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